I. 

INTRODUCTION/PROCEDURAL POSTURE 

This appeal is taken from the Superior court's decision to 

render dismissal for lack of proper jurisdiction against the plaintiff 

and appellant Deandra Grant ("Appellant"). The Appellate Court 

of Washington has jurisdiction to consider the issues raised in this 

appeal under authority of the Wash.R.App.P. 2.2. 

The defendant and respondent National College for DUI 

Defense ("Respondent") responded to the complaint (CP 001-031) 

with an objectively overzealous, ad hominem and vexatious 

defense of filing a motion to dismiss/change of venue (CP 042-

068), supplementing that with a motion for sanctions (CP 0152-

ISSUES ON APPEAL 

1. Does a trial court have a duty to provide a reasoned 

decision on dispositive motions? 

2. Does a company that incorporates in the State of 

Washington submit to the jurisdiction of Washington State Court? 

3. Are Forum Selection and Choice-of-Law provisions that 

impose requirements that any litigation arising from the contractual 

relationship, must be filed in a King County Courthouse in 

Washington, also must be decided under Washington State law, 

valid and enforceable? 

4. Is Washington and King County an inconvenient forum for 

Respondent, who has incorporated in Washington and had both a 

forum selection and choice-of-Iaw provision imposed on its 

members to file their cases in Washington? 
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III. 

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

The District Court erred in holding that Appellant did not 

have jurisdiction to file the case in King County, Washington, 

because of the adhesive agreement by Respondent providing that 

any litigation arising from that agreement would have to be filed in 

King County, Washington, and decided under Washington State 

law. 

IV. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Respondent controls, conducts, and administers the only 

board certification for DUI defense attorneys in the United States 

that is approved by the government and/or publicly funded 

American Bar Association ("ABA"). 

Respondent corporation is controlled and operated by the 

white males it designates as "Regents" and "Fellows" and has 

substantial underrepresentation of women. Appellant is a licensed 

attorney in the State of Texas and specifically, at all times material 

hereto, specializes in criminal defense of driving under the influence 

("DUI") cases. Respondent is responsible for granting Certification 

in DUI Defense Specialist to attorneys in the entire United States, 
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and has the approval of ABA. Respondent holds no elections 

whatsoever, and only males, (prior to the filing of this lawsuit, at 

which time there was a scramble to round up anyone female, 

African-American or both, to be annointed) were chosen to 

become Respondent Corporation's leaders and decision-makers 

"Regents", "Dean", "Fellows" and/or Nationally Board Certified in 

DUI Defense ("Board Certified"). The titles "Fellow", "Regent", 

and "Dean" are based on being an older White male are used to 

imply grandeur, but lack substance. The "Board Certification" 

approved by the ABA is being peddled and gifted amongst "good 

01' boys", who are also those with grandiose titles. 

Any woman who attempts to obtain the honor, prestige, 

gigantic marketing and business boost associated with Board 

Certification is given forms to fill out, asked to spend several 

thousand dollars, take a "Board Certification examination," and 

then is arbitrarily told that they failed the exam (Very 

coincidentally, token women have been certified since the filing of 

this lawsuit, despite decades of running a racket with and gifting 

the certification to "good 01' boys". They are not, however, given 

the opportunity to review their graded exam. In addition, some 
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women are not even allowed to take the examination while male 

members with lesser qualifications are allowed to sit for the exam. 

Prominently displayed on Respondent's membership website 

is a Forum Selection and Choice of Law provision that mandates all 

litigation arising from membership and testing issues must be filed in 

King County, Washington Court, and must be decided under 

Washington State law. 

8. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION. 

"Membership in the College shall be governed by 

the laws of the State of Washington. Exclusive 

jurisdiction and venue for any dispute arising from 

or related to membership in the College shall be 

resolved by litigation under the laws of the State of 

Washington, in the King County Superior Court, 

Kent Regional Justice Center, Kent, Washington, 

and shall be the exclusive jurisdiction and venue." 

Available at http://ncdd.comlbecomeamember.php; 

(CP 407) 

In Respondents pleading to the District Court on its motion to 

dismiss/transfer, they argued in part forum non conveniens and stated 

that Washington State was an inconvenient forum that would place a 

hardship on them, and argued for transferring the case to Alabama. 

"In short there is not one scrap of paper or one 
potential witness in this case (including Plaintiff 

herself) located in Washington and it will be 
extremely burdensome for everyone involved for 
this case to be litigated in Washington. 
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Conversely, all of the documents are located in 
Alabama, and the person with actual personal 

knowledge regarding those books and records is 

located in Alabama as well. Thus, the convenience 

factors weigh strongly in favor of this litigation 

taking place in Alabama, not Washington." (CP 

059) 

This was, in effect, a fraud upon the court because 

Respondents' knew that they had already required Appellant to agree 

to Washington State court as the forum and Washington law that the 

claims would be decided under Washington law. They merely made 

this argument because they wanted to make it inconvenient for 

Appellant's attorney in the hope that she would give up her case. 

As the following points and authorities set forth, The 

King County court in Washington is the only proper forum for this 

case and Washington law is the proper legal authorities controlling 

this case as Respondent's have purposefully availed themselves to 

the jurisdiction of Washington State court 

V. 

ARGUMENT/ POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

A. 

STANDARDS OF REVIEW 

A motion to dismiss based upon subject matter 

jurisdiction is reviewed de novo. See Todric Corp. v. Dep't. of 

Revenue, 109 Wn. App. 785, 788 n. 2 (2002); and for a motion to 

dismiss based upon personal jurisdiction, the standard is also de novo. 
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See MBM Fisheries, Inc. v. Bollinger Mach. Shop & Shipyard, Inc., 60 

Wn. App. 414, 418 (1991). A de novo standard of review applies to all 

questions relating to the forum selection clause because they are 

questions oflaw. See Dix v. ICT Group, Inc., 160 Wn.2d 826,833-34 

(2007). The same standard applies to choice-of-Iaw provisions. See 

State v. Whelchel, 97 Wn. App. 813, 817 (1997), "Review of a trial 

court's choice of law decision, its interpretation, and its application to 

the facts of the case is de novo. " 

B. 

THE DISTRICT COURT'S FAILURE TO RENDER ANY 

REASONED DECISION OR ANY SHORT EXPLANATION FOR 

ITS ORDER IS CAUSE TO REVERSE AND REMAND THE CASE 

The District Court has made it difficult to render a 

decision on appeal because it made no "reasoned decision", or 

even a short explanation for the decision in its order, while 

stating orally at the hearing that it believed Washington State had 

no personal jurisdiction over Defendant because the wrong 

alleged did not occur in Washington. (CP 340-381. 421) 

Properly, this court should decide if the order is so devoid of 

reasoning that it can deem the order void. See Gov't Employees 

Ins. Co. v. Dizol, 133 F.3d 1220, 1225 (9th Cir.1998), "[t]he 

district court left us with no reasoned decision to review, and no 
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basis upon which to evaluate its exercise of discretion, thereby 

making it impossible for us to do our judicial duty. Where, as 

here, a district court does not explain its reasoning, we must 

remand to that court to reconsider its decision and to set forth its 

reasons for whatever decision it reaches, so that we can properly 

exercise our powers of review." See also Couveau v. American 

Airlines, Inc ., 218 F.3d 1078, 1081 n. 3 (9th Cir. 2000), 

"Appellate review is a particularly difficult process when there 

is nothing to review," 

The transcripts of the case indicate that the District 

Court granted the motion because: 1) No injury or unlawful act 

occurred in Washington and the Plaintiff does not live or work 

in Washington; 2) No affect on trade in Washington is pled 

under the CPA; and 3) No significant injury pled under the 

Washington State Act Against Discrimination, (RP 15-16) 

C. 

BY RESPONDENT INCORPORATING IN WASHINGTON, 

THEY HAVE SUBMITTED TO THE JURISDICTION OF ITS 

COURTS FOR RESOLUTION OF CIVIL DISPUTES 

Respondent's claimed Washington is a forum non conveniens. 

It was the Respondent's own choice for purposes they have not 

disclosed to incorporate in the State of Washington. Respondent's 
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President is listed as being domiciled in King County, and its agent 

for service of process is in Thurston County. See Respondent's 

Secretary of State Corporation status page, available at 

http://www.sos.wa.gov/corps/search_detail.aspx?ubi=601646197.By 

choosing to incorporate in Washington, Defendants are a legal entity 

of this state, are subject to its personal jurisdiction, and may be sued 

here. See RCW 4.12.025 

(1) An action may be brought in any county in which 

the .... (1) An action may be brought in any county in 

which the defendant resides, or, if there be more than 

one defendant, where some one of the defendants 

resides at the time of the commencement of the action. 

For the purpose of this section, the residence of a 

corporation defendant shall be deemed to be in any 

county where the corporation: (a) Transacts business; 

(b) has an office for the transaction of business; (c) 

transacted business at the time the cause of action 

arose; or (d) where any person resides upon whom 
process may be served upon the corporation. 

Further, while RCW 23B.15.01O(1) states that a corporation 

"may not transact business in 

this state until it obtains a certificate of authority from the secretary of 

state', transacting business does not include litigation. RCW 

23B.15.010(2)(a); RCW 23B.15.010(2)(h). Here, Respondent does 

not need to do any business in the state, but still may be incorporated 

here, and may sue and be sued here, and personal jurisdiction exists 
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by fact oftheir incorporation. See also Title 28 U.S.C. § 1332 (c), "for 

diversity purposes, a corporation is a citizen of the State of 

incorporation" . 

Respondents cannot legitimately claim forum non conveniens 

in a state that they chose and elected to incorporate in, and sUbjected 

its own personal jurisdiction to. "A party's incorporation in a state is 

a contact sufficient to allow the parties to choose that state's law to 

govern their contract." Nedlloyd Lines B. V v. Superior Court, 3 

Cal.4th 459, 467 (Cal. 1992); accord, Carlock v. Pillsbury Co., 719 

F. Supp. 791, 807-808 (Minn.O.C. 1989); Ferrojluidics Corp. v. 

Advanced Vacuum Components, Inc., 968 F.2d 1463, 1467-68 (1st 

Cir. 1992); Hale v. Co-Mar Offshore Corp., 588 F. Supp. 1212, 

1215 (W.O. La. 1984). In re Falk, 2 B.R. 609, 614 n. 17 

(Bankr.O.N.J. 1980); See also Restatement (Second) Conflicts of 

Laws, § 187 comment f (1971 ), [domicile of party satisfies 

"reasonable relation" test]. 

While Washington has yet to adopt this principal of 

incorporation conferring jurisdiction in a state, this court should 

properly do so in this case as a matter of first impression. Based 

on that holding, Respondent's claim of forum non conveniens is 

frivolous based upon their incorporation choice. 
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D. 

RESPONDENT'S ADHESIVE AGREEMENT FORUM 

SELECTION AND CHOICE OF LAW PROVISIONS ARE 

LEGALL Y ENFORCEABLE AND BINDING, CONSTITUTE 

PERSONAL A VAILMENT TO THIS JURISDICTION, AND 

WITH KING COUNTY COURT AND WASHINGTON 

LA W PROPERLY DECIDING ALL OF THE CLAIMS 

It would be a mockery of forum selection clauses if the 

drafting party of a forum selection clause later rescinds that 

agreement and claims forum nonconveniens; especially where it is 

an adhesive, "take it or leave it" contract that results in a "Hobson's 

Choice." 1 That is what Respondent has done in his case in order to 

avoid having to answer to this lawsuit. They have decided to 

disavow their own agreement and treat it as the "elephant in the 

living room" and refuse to even respond to the fact of its existence. 

They went forward in arguing facts completely contrary to that 

agreement solely because they wanted to use it to get the case 

dismissed. Here are those remarkable words: 

1 A Hobson's choice comes from Thomas Hobson, an English 

liveryman who required every customer to choose the horse 

nearest the door or none at all. Webster's Ninth New Collegiate 

Dictionary 574 (1985). A Hobson's choice is thus an apparently 

free choice when there is no real alternative. See Wang v. Reno, 81 

F.3d 808, 813 n. 5 (9th Cir. 1996). 
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"In short there is not one scrap of paper or one 

potential witness in this case (including Plaintiff 

herself) located in Washington and it will be 

extremely burdensome for everyone involved for 

this case to be litigated in Washington." 

(CP 059) 

The law is clear that absent any of the established 

defenses to contracts, forum selection and choice-of-Iaw provisions 

are to be fully enforced. 

1. Respondent's Forum Selection Clause is Enforceable 

Here, the unusual situation is the Respondents created 

and adhered Appellant to their forum selection clause, and they 

now disavow it because that seems to be their best way to get the 

case dismissed. Personal jurisdiction, unlike subject matter 

jurisdiction, may be conferred by agreement. See Voicelink Data 

Service, Inc. v. Datapulse, Inc., 86 Wn. App. 613, 620 (1997). 

A party waives any claim of lack of personal jurisdiction if, 

"before the court rules, he or she asks the court to grant affirmative 

relief, or otherwise consents, expressly or impliedly, to the court's 

exercising jurisdiction." Marriage o/Steele, 90 Wn. App. 992, 

997-98 (1998). Affirmative relief is defined as relief for which the 

defendant "might maintain an action independently of plaintiffs 
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claim and on which he might proceed to recovery." Grange Ins. 

Assn. v. State, 110 Wn.2d 752, 765-66 (1988). 

When genuine factual issues are raised as to personal 

jurisdiction, it is appropriate for the district court to hold a Rule 

12(b )(3) motion in abeyance until an evidentiary hearing on the 

disputed facts. See Murphy v. Schneider National, Inc, 362 F.3d 

1133, 1139 (9th Cir. 2004), citing to Fed.R.Civ.P.l2(d) (permitting 

pre-trial "hearing[s]". The pleadings need not be accepted as true. 

See Richards v. Lloyd's of London, 135 F.3d 1289, 1292 (9th Cir. 

1998). No such evidentiary hearing was heard here, and the District 

Court accepted Respondent's facts by declaration at face value. 

Forum selection clauses are prima facie valid. See Kysar 

v. Lambert, 76 Wash.App. 470,484-85 (1995), Bremen v. Zapata 

Off-Shore Co., 407 U.S. 1, 10 (1972), "The correct approach for a 

district court faced with a challenge to such a clause, is to enforce 

it unless the objecting party can make a strong showing that the 

forum selection clause is invalid, or that its enforcement would be 

unreasonable or unjust." Id. at 15. "In general, a forum selection 

clause may be enforced even if it is in a standard form consumer 

contract not subject to negotiation." Dix, 160 Wn.2d at 832, citing 

to Carnival Cruise Lines, Inc. v. Shute, 499 U.S. 585, 589-95 
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(1991). "[E]nforcement of forum selection clauses serves the 

salutary purpose of enhancing contractual predictability." 

Voicelink, 86 Wn. App. at 617, citing to Carnival Cruise Lines, 

499 U.S. at 593-94. Additionally, such clauses may reduce the 

costs of doing business, thus resulting in reduced prices to 

consumers. Dix, 160 Wn.2d 834. Carnival Cruise Lines, 499 U.S. 

at 594. "When the parties have agreed on a forum, the trial court 

must enforce the agreement unless the party objecting to the 

chosen forum can establish that enforcing it would be 

"unreasonable and unjust." Voicelink, 86 Wash.App. at 617-18. 

The Bremen court recognized three reasons that would make 

enforcement of a forum selection clause unreasonable: (1) "if the 

inclusion of the clause in the agreement was the product of fraud or 

overreaching"; (2) "if the party wishing to repudiate the clause 

would effectively be deprived of his day in court were the clause 

enforced"; and (3) "if enforcement would contravene a strong 

public policy of the forum in which suit is brought." Richards, 135 

F.3d at 294, citing and quoting Bremen, 407 U.S. at 12-13, 15, 18. 

Thus, under Washington law, a forum selection clause 

will defeat a forum non conveniens argument, especially whereas 
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here, the forum selection clause is an adhesive contract drafted by 

the party who now attempts to rescind its own prior mandate. 

2. Respondent's Choice-of-Law Provision is Equally 

Enforceable 

"A choice of law clause or proper law clause is a term of 

a contract in which the parties specify that any dispute arising 

under the contract shall be determined in accordance with the law 

of a particular jurisdiction." Whelchel, 97 Wn. App. at 817. 

Respondent's choice-of-Iaw provision satisfies the jurisdictional 

requirement of "purposeful availment". See Decker Coal Co. v. 

Commonwealth Edison Co., 805 F.2d 834, 840 (9th Cir. 1986), 

"Making the forum state's law the governing law under the contract 

also meets the purposeful availing test"; accord, Gates Learjet 

Corp. v. Jensen, 743 F.2d 1325,1331 (9thCir. 1984). Contractual 

choice-of-Iaw clauses are routinely enforced, particularly when the 

jurisdiction selected has some nexus with the action. See Northrop 

Corp. v. Triad Int'l Marketing S.A., 811 F.2d 1265, 1270 (9th Cir. 

1987). The policy in favor of recognizing parties' contractual 

choice-of-Iaw clauses is also generally considered to be strong. See 

Paracor Finance, Inc. v. Gen. El. Cap. Corp., 96 F.3d 1151, 1165, 
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n. 17 (9th Cir. 1996). "When two sophisticated, commercial entities 

agree to a choice-of-Iaw clause like the one in this case, the most 

reasonable interpretation of their actions is that they intended for the 

clause to apply to all causes of action arising from or related to their 

contract." Nedlloyd Lines, 3 Ca1.4th at 468. Contract choice-of-Iaw 

provisions reinforce the "[d]eliberate affiliation with the forum state 

and the reasonable foreseeability of possible litigation there." Burger 

King Corp. v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 482 (1985). 

Restatement (Second) Conflict of Laws § 187(1) (1971) 

provides the rule for conflict of laws problems in which the parties 

have made an express contractual choice of law. Section 187 reads 

in significant part: 

"(2) The law of the state chosen by the parties to 

govern their contractual rights and duties will be 

applied, even if the particular issue is one which the 

parties could not have resolved by an explicit 
provision in their agreement directed to that issue, 

unless either 
(a) the chosen state has no substantial relationship 

to the parties or the transaction and there is no other 

reasonable basis for the parties' choice, or 

(b) application of the law of the chosen state would 

be contrary to a fundamental policy of a state which 

has a materially greater interest than the chosen 

state in the determination of the particular issue and 

which, under the rule of § 188, would be the state of 

the applicable law in the absence of an effective 
choice of law by the parties." 
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Washington law adopts Restatement Section 187. "We 

adopt section 187 as the law of Washington when resolving 

conflict of laws issues in which the parties have made an express 

contractual choice of law to govern their contractual rights and 

duties. We apply section 187 here to decide whether the parties' 

contractual choice of Washington law is effective." Erwin v. Cotter 

Health Ctrs. Inc., 161 Wn.2d 676,694 (2007). "When parties 

dispute the effectiveness of a choice of law provision, we will 

engage in a conflicts analysis only ifthe disputing party can 

demonstrate an actual conflict between the law or interests of the 

two states." Id. at p. 692. "The law of the state chosen by the 

parties to govern their contractual rights and duties will be applied 

if the particular issue is one which the parties could have resolved 

by an explicit provision in their agreement directed to that issue." 

O'Brien v. Shearson Hayden Stone, Inc., 90 Wn.2d 680, 685 

(1978). "We interpret contract provisions to render them 

enforceable whenever possible." Patterson v. Bixby, 58 Wn.2d 

454,459 (1961). "[W]e generally enforce contract choice oflaw 

provisions." McKee v. AT & T Corp., 164 Wn.2d 372, 384 (2008). 

"To effectively void a choice of law provision, a court must find 

that the chosen state has no substantial relationship to the parties or

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