69691-2

No. 69691-2-1

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIV. I

DEANDRA GRANT,

Appellant

٧.

NATIONAL COLLEGE FOR DUI DEFENSE, INC.,

Respondent

King County Superior Court No. 12-2-20411-0 SEA The Honorable Theresa B. Doyle

#### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ANSWERING BRIEF OF APPELLANT DEANDRA GRANT

Sarah Jung Evans, WSBA No. 37409
Alexandra A. Bodnar, Pro Hac Vice
OGLETREE, DEAKINS, NASH, SMOAK & STEWART, P.C.
Two Union Square
601 Union Street, Suite 4200
Seattle, WA 98101
Telephone (206) 652-3585
Counsel for Respondent

STATE CE WASHINGTON 2:51

###

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. NCDD's Alleged Forum Selection Clause Governing Membership Disputes Is Not Properly Before this Court.

For the first time, in her motion for reconsideration challenging the trial court's dismissal of her claims on the ground of *forum non conveniens*, Grant argued that NCDD has a forum selection clause governing membership disputes. CP 388. Grant argued that the forum selection clause was valid and enforceable and that a grant of dismissal on the basis of *forum non conveniens* was improper as a matter of law. CP 384; 387-392. Grant's argument was, and continues to be, without merit.

New issues may be raised for the first time in a motion for reconsideration, thereby preserving them for review, only where they are not dependent upon new facts and are closely related to and part of the original theory. Reitz v. Knight, 62 Wash.App. 575, 581, 814 P.2d 1212 n .4, 62 Wash.App. 575, 814 P.2d 1212 (1991) (citing Newcomer v. Masini,

45 Wash.App. 284, 287, 724 P.2d 1122 (1986)). Grant's argument regarding NCDD's membership dispute forum selection clause was an entirely new argument, based upon an entirely new, irrelevant fact, raised for the first time in her motion for reconsideration. As such, this issue was not preserved for review.

Accordingly, Grant's claim that the alleged forum selection clause compels a denial of NCDD's motion to dismiss for *forum non conveniens* was not preserved for appeal and is not properly considered by this Court. Grant does not raise any other grounds as the basis for her appeal of the trial court's dismissal for *forum non conveniens*. On this basis alone, Grant's appeal must be dismissed.

## B. The Trial Court Properly Granted Dismissal on the Basis of Forum Non Conveniens.

The only basis upon which Grant alleges that the dismissal of her claims for *forum non conveniens* was improper is the alleged forum selection clause governing membership disputes. Because that argument is not properly before this Court on appeal, and she raises no other grounds, Grant cannot demonstrate that the dismissal on *forum non conveniens* grounds was an abuse of discretion. Klotz v. Dehkhoda, 134 Wash. App. 261, 141 P.3d 67 (Div. 1 2006) (trial court dismissed case so action could be filed in Canada; affirmed on appeal). Reversal is only

appropriate if the trial court's decision is "manifestly unfair, unreasonable, or untenable." Id.

The doctrine of *forum non conveniens* "refers to the discretionary power of a court to decline jurisdiction when the convenience of parties and the ends of justice would be better served if the action were brought and tried in another forum." <u>Johnson v. Spider Staging Corp.</u>, 87 Wn. 2d 577, 579 (Wash. 1976). In determining whether dismissal is appropriate on the basis of *forum non conveniens*, Washington courts consider the relative ease of access to sources of proof; the availability of compulsory process for attendance of unwilling, and the cost of obtaining attendance of willing, witnesses; and all other practical problems that make trial of a case easy, expeditious and inexpensive. <u>Johnson</u>, 87 Wn. 2d at 579; <u>citing</u> Gulf Oil v. Gilbert, 330 U.S. 501, 509 (1947).

Based upon the evidence before the trial court as of the date of the November 15, 2012 oral argument by the parties, the trial court granted dismissal of Grant's claims on the basis of *forum non conveniens*, as well as CR 12(b)(6). The Court stated that it was dismissing on the ground of *forum non conveniens* because "all the factors clearly weighs in favor of finding that Washington is not the appropriate forum. Aside from the defendant being incorporated here, there's just no other connection whatsoever. They – nobody lives here; no injury occurred here; plaintiff

doesn't live here; the defendant organization doesn't seem to maintain any presence here beyond just having been incorporated here." RP 15. Grant does not challenge the trial court's findings of fact. An unchallenged finding of fact is a verity upon appeal. Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wash.2d 801, 808, 828 P.2d 549, 553 (1992), citing Nearing v. Golden State Foods Corp., 114 Wash.2d 817, 818, 792 P.2d 500 (1990). Based upon the foregoing verities, the trial court's dismissal on the grounds of *forum non conveniens* was well within its discretion and not manifestly unfair, unreasonable or untenable. Consequently, this Court should uphold the trial court's dismissal on *forum non conveniens* grounds. Finally, as is set forth below, the court's decision to dismiss on 12(b)(6) grounds has not been challenged, and therefore, regardless of the outcome of this Appeal, the trial court's decision to dismiss the case must stand.

### C. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Denying Grant's Motion for Reconsideration.

A trial court's denial of a motion for reconsideration is reviewed for abuse of discretion, that is, discretion manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons. <u>River House Development Inc. v. Integrus Architecture</u>, P.S. 272 P.3d 289 (2012); <u>see also, Brinnon Grp. v. Jefferson County</u>, 159 Wn.App. 446, 485, 245 P.3d

789 (2011) (citing Lilly v. Lynch, 88 Wn.App. 306, 321, 945 P.2d 727 (1997)).

<u>Civil Rule 59</u> sets forth the grounds upon which a motion for reconsideration may be granted. The rule states in relevant part:

- (a) Grounds for New Trial or Reconsideration. On the motion of the party aggrieved, a verdict may be vacated and a new trial granted to all or any of the parties, and on all issues, or on some of the issues when such issues are clearly and fairly separable and distinct, or any other decision or order may be vacated and reconsideration granted. Such motion may be granted for any one of the following causes materially affecting the substantial rights of such parties:
- (1) Irregularity in the proceedings of the court, jury or adverse party, or any order of the court, or abuse of discretion, by which such party was prevented from having a fair trial;
- (2) Misconduct of prevailing party or jury; and whenever any one or more of the jurors shall have been induced to assent to any general or special verdict or to a finding on any question or questions submitted to the jury by the court, other and different from his own conclusions, and arrived at by a resort to the determination of chance or lot, such misconduct may be proved by the affidavits of one or more of the jurors;

...

(9) That substantial justice has not been done.

Grant's motion for reconsideration was properly denied because (1) she improperly based the motion upon a new issue of the enforceability of the membership forum selection clause based upon a new fact (the existence of that clause) which she could have raised prior to the Court's dismissal of her case, (2) she failed to demonstrate that any of the grounds of CR 59(a)(1), (2) or (9) were satisfied, and (3) she failed to provide any admissible, competent evidence of the relevance of the membership forum selection clause to the certification claims upon which her lawsuit is based. The trial Court's denial of her motion for reconsideration was not an abuse of discretion.

#### The Trial Court Properly Denied Grant's Motion for Reconsideration which was Based upon a New Issue and New Facts.

In general, an issue may be raised in a motion for reconsideration when the issue is closely related to an issue previously raised and no new evidence is required. August v. U.S. Bancorp, 146 Wn.App. 328, 347, 190 P.3d 86 (2008). Nonetheless, in a motion for reconsideration, a plaintiff cannot propose new case theories that could have been raised before entry of an adverse decision. Wilcox v. Lexington Eye Inst., 130 Wn.App. 234, 241, 122 P.3d 729 (2005). Here, there is no evidence that Grant could not have raised the membership dispute forum selection clause before the trial Court's grant of NCDD's motion to dismiss. In fact, the evidence is to the contrary as Grant admits that the membership dispute forum selection clause was available to her on NCDD's website for the entire period that this lawsuit was pending, including from December 2010 to the date of

Grant's request for judicial notice accompanying her motion for reconsideration. CP 388; 411-417. Accordingly, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Grant's motion for reconsideration which she improperly based upon a new case theory and new evidence which could have been raised before the trial court's November 16, 2012 dismissal.

## 2. There was No Irregularity Consistent with <u>CR 59(a)(1)</u> Requiring Reconsideration.

In her motion for reconsideration, Grant did not allege any specific "irregularity" of the court or of NCDD other than an alleged failure to "disclose" the forum selection clause relating to membership disputes, even though this dispute is a certification dispute, not a membership dispute. CP 387-389. As articulated below at section A.3., that argument fails as a matter of law. Accordingly, the trial court properly denied Plaintiff's motion for reconsideration pursuant to <u>CR 59(a)(1)</u>, and its decision to do so was not an abuse of discretion.

## 3. NCDD Did Not Commit Misconduct Consistent with <u>CR 59</u> (a)(2).

In her motion for reconsideration, Grant raised for the first time a new "fact" unsupported by any evidentiary support as to its relevance, that NCDD's website at some point in time allegedly stated that any "dispute arising from or related to membership in the College shall be resolved by litigation under the laws of the State of Washington, in the King County Superior Court..." CP 388. Grant claimed in her motion that despite the clause being available on NCDD's website, she learned of the clause only after the trial court had issued its order granting dismissal. Id.; CP 411-417. She articulated no justification why her reasonable diligence had not resulted in her obtaining this information prior to the Court's ruling, although she had quoted repeatedly from NCDD's website in her Complaint and was therefore familiar with it from the outset of this action. CP 7.

Grant is a member of NCDD. CP 64. She has not been denied membership, but rather, has not been granted certification to become "Board Certified" by NCDD due to her failure to pass NCDD's certification exam. CP 63-64. Grant's dispute with NCDD is therefore not a dispute relating to her "membership," but rather her dispute relating to NCDD's failure to grant her certification following her examination. CP 4. Furthermore, an individual is not even required to become a member in order to take the certification exam. CP 63-64. Accordingly, NCDD was not required to disclose to the trial court any forum selection clause relating to membership disputes. Given the lack of relevance of the forum selection clause for membership disputes to Grant's certification dispute, it

would not have been misconduct for NCDD to "fail to disclose" such a clause. Aluminum Co. of Am. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 140 Wn.2d 517, 539, 998 P.2d 856 (2000) (holding that in order to obtain a new trial "the movant must establish that the conduct complained of constituted misconduct (and not mere aggressive advocacy) and that the misconduct is prejudicial in the context of the entire record ...") Grant utterly failed to meet her burden and the trial court properly denied her motion for reconsideration pursuant to CR 59(a)(2), and its decision to do so was not an abuse of discretion.

## 4. Grant Failed to Demonstrate that "Substantial Justice" Had Not Been Done.

Grant's third and final basis for her motion for reconsideration is pursuant to CR 59(a)(9), that "substantial justice has not been done." The sole basis for this claim are the reasons articulated in support of her claims under CR 59(a)(1) and (a)(2). Because those fail as a matter of law, so also does her claim under CR 59(a)(9). The trial court's denial of her motion for reconsideration based on an irrelevant forum selection clause about which Grant argued without presenting any evidentiary support as to its relevance to the certification dispute before the trial court was not an abuse of discretion. Furthermore, her case was *also* dismissed on 12(b)(6) grounds, a decision which she does not appeal.

5. Because The Membership Forum Selection Clause Has No Relevance to the Certification Dispute Upon Which Grant's Lawsuit is Based, the Trial Court's Denial of the Motion for Reconsideration was not an Abuse of Discretion.

Grant's motion for reconsideration based upon the membership forum selection clause was properly denied not only because she failed to satisfy her burden to prove that any of the grounds set forth in Civil Rule 59(a)(1), (2) or (9) were met (as articulated above), but also for another reason: her failure to put it before the trial court with competent, admissible, evidence of its relevance to the certification claims upon which her lawsuit is based. To support a motion for reconsideration, the new evidence must be material to the merits of the case and must be evidence that would be admissible under the usual rules of evidence. Hinton v. Carmody, 186 Wash. 242, 60 P.2d 1108 (1936); Tonning v. Northern Pac. Ry. Co., 180 Wash. 374, 39 P.2d 1002 (1935). Here, although Grant requested judicial notice of the membership forum selection clause on NCDD's website, she provided no evidence that the clause was material to the merits of her certification dispute, and her motion for reconsideration was properly denied.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Although the Court made no specific ruling on Grant's Request for Judicial Notice, given the membership forum selection clause's lack of relevance to the certification dispute upon which Grant's lawsuit was based, it would have been proper to deny it. Washington Water Jet Workers Ass'n v. Yarbrough, 151 Wash.2d 470, 476, 90 P.3d 42, 45 (2004) (citing ER 201(b)) (Denying request for judicial notice of newspaper article because it was not relevant to the disposition of the question before the court.)

#### D. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Dismissing Grant's Claims Based Upon Failure To State a Claim Upon Which Relief Could be Granted.

Grant does not dispute on appeal the propriety of the trial court's grant of NCDD's motion to dismiss on the grounds of 12(b)(6) with regard to her Washington Law Against Discrimination and Consumer Protection Act claims, and has therefore waived any such argument on appeal.

Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wash.2d 801, 808-809, 828

P.2d 549, 553 (1992), citing Smith v. King, 106 Wash.2d 443, 451-52, 722 P.2d 796 (1986) (holding that plaintiffs who presented no argument in their opening brief regarding trespass waived any assignment of error regarding the trespass issue.) Thus, the outcome of this appeal changes nothing about the outcome of Grant's case at the trial court level; her claims have been dismissed on multiple grounds and she appealed only one ground.

Even assuming that Grant properly challenged the trial court's dismissal of her WLAD and CPA claims pursuant to CR 12(b)(6), this Court must uphold the trial court's dismissal because even under de novo review, there is no set of facts under which Grant would be entitled to relief for either of those claims. Cutler v. Phillips Petroleum Co., 124 Wash.2d 749, 755, 881 P.2d 216 (1994).

1. Grant Cannot Plead Any Set of Facts Consistent with the Complaint Which Would Entitle Her to Relief on Her WLAD Claim.

A trial court's ruling on a motion to dismiss under CR 12(b)(6) is a question of law that is reviewed de novo. Cutler v. Phillips Petroleum Co., 124 Wash.2d 749, 755, 881 P.2d 216 (1994). A CR 12(b)(6) motion questions only the legal sufficiency of the allegations in a pleading, asking whether there is an insuperable bar to relief. Contreras v. Crown Zellerbach Corp., 88 Wash.2d 735, 742, 565 P.2d 1173 (1977). The purpose of CR 12(b)(6) is to weed out complaints where, even if that which the plaintiff alleges is true, the law does not provide a remedy. McCurry v. Chevy Chase Bank, FSB, 169 Wash.2d 96, 101, 233 P.3d 861 (2010). A motion to dismiss under CR 12(b)(6) should be granted only if the plaintiff is not entitled to relief on a claim under any set of facts. Cutler, 124 Wash.2d at 755, 881 P.2d 216.

Grant's Complaint alleges that she is entitled to relief under RCW 49.60.030(f), which states in relevant part:

(f) The right to engage in commerce free from any discriminatory boycotts or blacklists. Discriminatory boycotts or blacklists for purposes of this section shall be defined as the formation or execution of any express or implied agreement, understanding, policy or contractual arrangement for economic benefit between any persons which is not specifically authorized by the laws of the United States and which is required or imposed, either

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